Emerging Industrial Policy Approaches in the United States

WILLIAM B. BONVILLIAN | OCTOBER 2021

The federal government has long avoided industrial policies outside of its defense sector. But now, facing competition from China, it is pursuing a series of new programs at a scale never tried before. The effort will require careful, system-wide planning to bear fruit.

KEY TAKEAWAYS

- U.S. industrial policy approaches trace back to Alexander Hamilton's attempts to spur a manufacturing sector. But while the defense sector has long applied industrial policy, interventions have been limited in the civilian economy.
- Mainstream economists have long opposed industrial policy approaches, favoring reliance on markets instead, and there have been definitional debates over what industrial policies actually entail.
- Four previous periods of industrial policy efforts have included the Cold War challenge, the competitiveness challenge with Japan, the energy technology initiative starting in the 2000s, and advanced manufacturing efforts starting in 2012.
- Now, spurred by bipartisan concerns about the competitive threat posed by China, major industrial policy programs are evolving at an unprecedented scale and magnitude.
- Programs now underway cover semiconductor production, development of critical technologies, energy demonstration projects, secure domestic supply chains in critical fields, and speeding domestic vaccine development and production.
- These programs require new supporting infrastructure and operating mechanisms.
- These include: a new talent base; integrated research connections; strong manufacturing foundations and supply chains; testing and demonstrations; technology certifications; flexible contracting; financing; and procurement.

CONTENTS

Overview
The Early Historical Context
The Definitional Debate
Opposition From Economics
The Evolving History
The New Industrial Policy Approaches
The Semiconductor Industry
The Endless Frontier Act
Demonstration Projects for New Energy Technologies16
Assuring Secure, Domestic Supply Chains18
Pharmaceuticals and Pharmaceutical Ingredients18
Advanced Batteries
Critical Minerals
Semiconductors
Operation Warp Speed21
Guiding Principles and Operating Mechanisms for a New Industrial Policy Infrastructure
Conclusion
Endnotes

OVERVIEW

Long reluctant to pursue industrial policies outside its defense sector, the U.S. federal government is now pursuing a series of new approaches at a scale not tried before. This effort has been driven politically, largely on a bipartisan basis, by concern over China's extensive industrial policy system, which has enabled it to surpass the United States as the world's leading industrial power. China is also starting to out-invest the United States, long the leader, in research and development (R&D) in critical technologies, directly taking on a role that has been central to U.S. innovation and, therefore, economic growth and national security. Growing concern about climate change has also been a driver for these new policies. This paper:

- places these new policy approaches into a historical context both in the postwar and in a series of subsequent periods,
- reviews the definitional and economic debates over industrial policy,
- catalogs and summarizes the current main thrusts of the new industrial policy efforts,
- describes the major elements, as well as gaps in these approaches, and
- reviews the new mechanisms and supporting infrastructure we will need to make them operational

THE EARLY HISTORICAL CONTEXT

Like many topics, this one starts with Alexander Hamilton. The first American leader to back a federal role in industrial policy, in his report on manufacturing to Congress and subsequent work he advocated nurturing American industries through protectionist tariffs and direct support of industry.¹ Later, he joined President George Washington in supporting government-owned industries through creation of military arsenals to produce weapons for the army.² Hamilton's tariff-based trade policies became a mainstay of federal industrial policy for more than a century. The system of military arsenals was expanded a few years later to include government-owned shipyards that built the early American Navy. The arsenals and shipyards marked the federal use of a defense justification for industrial policy. The arsenals at Harpers Ferry and Springfield subsequently developed the first system of interchangeable machine-made parts in making muskets; this system spread across early factories in the northeast in the 1840s and was a critical step in enabling American mass production.³ But Hamilton's plans were opposed by agriculture-oriented southerners led by Thomas Jefferson and James Madison, and more direct support of civilian manufacturing was not taken up by the federal government. Instead, Hamilton launched this branch of his industrial policy approach through state support to a corporation developing waterpower at the Passaic Falls in Patterson, New Jersey, which supported a network of factories built around that power source.⁴ These patterns of federal support for industrial policy—support for trade policy and for military R&D and industrial facilities, but not for direct civilian sector industry involvement-proved long-lasting.

During the Second World War, Vannevar Bush, as Franklin Roosevelt's science advisor, led the creation of a highly connected system for technology advance. The federally funded research university was initiated at scale, and these universities were closely linked to industry, the military, and government agencies. The federally funded R&D centers (later called FFRDCs) were created as well, and these elements led to critical wartime technology advances at the Rad Lab

at MIT and the Manhattan Project. It was an intense system of industrial policy designed by Bush and other technology leaders to win the war. Immediately following the war, however, Bush led the dismantling of much of this extremely successful connected system. In his famous policy tract, Science the Endless Frontier, he recommended to President Truman a focus on basic research and a disconnected system.⁵ Why? With the war machine being dismantled in the expectation of world peace, Bush likely was trying to salvage some parts of the system. He saw the power of the federally funded research university and advocated federal support for basic research that could sustain that creation. Basic research is far cheaper than applied development, and he likely thought the government could still support that basic stage amid the postwar cutbacks. He also was concerned that science, like Icarus, was "moving too close to the sun"-science had become too tied to government, with all its intense political and military power, and he wanted to shield it, reclaim its independence. Bush advocated what was later called the "pipeline model" for innovation, with early-stage research as the federal input into the pipeline, with the later pipeline inputs relying on industry. The model disconnected the actors in that innovation system. Like with Humpty Dumpty, the United States has never fully managed to put the pieces together again.

The Definitional Debate

A preliminary question concerns defining industrial policy. After delineating other discussions of the term, British economist Ken Warwick, in 2013, broadly defined industrial policy as, "any type of intervention or government policy that attempts to improve the business environment or to alter the structure of economic activity toward sectors, technologies or tasks that are expected to offer better prospects for economic growth or societal welfare than would occur in the absence of such intervention."⁶ More recently, Information Technology and Innovation Foundation President Robert D. Atkinson defined industrial policy as "a set of policies and programs explicitly designed to support specific targeted industries and technologies."⁷ In this sense, there can be industrial policies for a variety of goals. Atkinson argues that the goal should be U.S. international competitiveness, especially in advanced technology sectors.

Others have taken the term "industrial policy" and tried to apply it largely social policy goals. Mariana Mazzucato, Rainer Kattel, and Josh Ryan-Collins have advocated "mission-based innovation" as the basis for industrial policy, taking up Warwick's "societal welfare" element.⁸ They identify mainstream, neoclassical economics and its reluctance to employ the power of the state as a cause for societal ills, including growing economic inequality, economic stagnation, a succession of financial crises, and climate change. While others have made these critiques, Muzzucato and colleagues seek to apply technological innovation not only to technological challenges but to societal missions such as reducing economic inequality and building sustainable development. They hold up the Apollo Moonshot project as an organizational model for how to get there.

Political economist Suzanne Berger argues that they reach too far.⁹ Technology programs such as the Apollo mission or the Manhattan project were organized around technology goals, not broad societal goals—rocketing to the moon or creating atomic weapons, not solving economic inequality or other societal goals. In effect, she is suggesting that the term "industrial policy" has to emphasize "industrial." Going beyond that, she argues, requires not simply a technical dimension but a major political dimension, requiring public consensus for long-term, sustained political change. Warwick's definition, when it tries to embrace "societal welfare," and

Muzzucato's and her colleagues' pursuit of solving social ills appear to be too-long of a stretch for most technology-based efforts.

We should note that growth economics has long established that technological and related innovation is the largest factor in economic growth—which, in turn, is a major enabler of societal economic well-being. Vannevar Bush himself argued that investment in research would yield societal gains—a "war against disease" and "public welfare."¹⁰ But some societal goals are more in range of a technology strategy than are others. For example, a program to implement advanced manufacturing technologies may not only make the manufacturing sector more competitive, it may enable manufacturing job retention. Or, as we have recently witnessed, a breakthrough vaccine technology development program may achieve a societal goals and how directly they can be connected to a technology development effort.

Of course, the technological advances can enable societal gains as well as technical impacts. But this broader notion drifts into the debate over technological determinism—and we don't need to travel that far for a practical and working definition of industrial policy.¹¹ Often driven by external crises, the federal government has periodically and actively sponsored industrial policy approaches. Societal welfare has typically not been the stated goal, although it can be a by-product. Instead, narrower sectoral or technology targets, or economic goals, such as improving economic competitiveness, are usually the public goal. Technology development, national security, economic advance, and competitiveness are the most workable goals for industrial policy, and, given the mixed record of past social engineering projects, a focus on applying technology advances for broad societal ills could prove a diversion from these economic fundamentals.

Growth economics has long established that technological and related innovation is the largest factor in economic growth—which, in turn, is a major enabler of societal economic well-being.

Berger's critique, then, rings true in many cases, as does her point about societal goals demanding political consensus. And from an industrial perspective, industrial policy needs more definition beyond Warwick's phrase "any type of intervention"—as this phrase simply doesn't tell us much about the nature of the interventions that might fall within the scope of industrial policy.

Another approach would be to define industrial policy in terms of the well-known stages through which a technology must advance: research, development, technology prototyping, testing, demonstration, product development, production financing, market entry, and expanded market creation. Industrial policy entails government intervention in a series of these stages in order to further a technological advance. The science and technology organization of World War II, for example, knitting government, industry, and universities together with interventions at all these economic stages, was clear industrial policy to meet wartime needs.

Although Mazzucato and colleagues have called for another "moonshot" solution, that specific approach followed a relatively straightforward government-contract model: The government issued contracts to firms and organizations for the technology to get us to the moon. Many industrial policy approaches, however, require not simply government contracts, but for new

technologies to be developed, adopted, and imbedded in the significantly larger private sector, a much more complex technology organization and system that requires major public-private collaboration. Energy and climate challenges, for example, fall into this category. We also need to keep in mind that industrial policy can involve a range of implementation approaches.

Opposition From Economics

Strong opposition to industrial policy has come in the past, as noted, from neoclassical economists. Certain governmental interventions are permissible when there is "market failure"— wherein, for example, the risks or costs of an activity are too high for the private sector to manage, or there is a problem of collective action. These permitted interventions include public education, transportation infrastructure, and early-stage research. But technology implementation is not on this list.

A focus on markets continues to reign in American economics with a corresponding dread regarding industrial policy.

Part of the reluctance of mainstream economists to allow government to intervene is because of the limits of their tools. They have long emphasized mathematical modeling, and have therefore focused on the efficiency of markets that are amenable to modeling. But they have been hampered by their inability to model and therefore understand innovation and the complex systems behind it. Robert Solow, who won a Nobel Prize for developing an innovation-based growth theory, felt his theory was "exogenous," that there were too many variables to predict innovation from neo-classical economic models. Paul Romer, another Nobelist, later countered with his own "endogenous" growth theory, trying to place growth theory back into neoclassical economics, but the metrics-based tools of economics have made this a largely unfinished project. Innovation requires the consideration of many complex elements outside of scientific advance, such as culture, traditions, vested political interests, change agents, governmental infrastructure, public expectations, collective action, and organizational management, that are not readily amenable to economic modeling.¹² So a focus on markets continues to reign in American economics with a corresponding dread regarding industrial policy. This has been more intense in U.S. economic circles than in other nations. For example, in 1983, Charles Schultze, who was head of Kennedy's and Johnson's Bureau of the Budget and Carter's Council of Economic Advisors, in a well-known piece, attacked interventionist federal policies aimed at responding to Japan's quality manufacturing innovations in the 1970s and 1980s as counterproductive, and even denied that the United States had been de-industrializing.¹³

The Evolving History

Despite the long-standing outcry from mainstream economists against industrial policy, since the end of World War II, the federal government has moved through four subsequent periods of industrial policy approaches. In each, it has tried to partially reconnect the different actors in its innovation system in industrial stages beyond research.¹⁴

The first period was the Cold War, which began in earnest with the Korean War in 1950, and featured the military working to reconnect the key actors. For example, new nuclear weapons labs, including Lawrence Livermore and Sandia, pushed atomic development, and the need for an air defense system accelerated real-time computing through the Whirlwind and SAGE (Semi-

Automatic Ground Environment) projects. The 1957 Sputnik crisis led to the creation in 1958 of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) and the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA). The Defense Department (DOD) could not work with a disconnected system, so it returned to its connected model of World War II. It built a system that supported not just the research but the development, prototyping, testing, and demonstration, and often created the initial market. In contrast, the civilian R&D agencies supported research only through early-stage development. This meant that the United States had been running two very different innovation systems in parallel—a disconnected civilian system and a connected defense system. DARPA exemplified this defense difference. Its "right-left" approach identified potential breakthrough technologies on the right side of the innovation pipeline and then went back to the left side of the pipeline to nurture the science to get there. It was not interested in incremental advances, only revolutionary ones. Its reach across both science and technology was a dramatic contrast to the curiosity-driven basic research supported by Bush's model.¹⁵ NASA's push for moon landings through the Apollo Mission was another form of industrial policy in that era, creating a major space technology and satellite communications sector that has since been commercializing at large scale. This system of defense support for technology development and follow-on product procurement played a central role in most of the major innovation waves of the second half of the 20th century: aviation, space, nuclear power, electronics, computing, and the Internet.¹⁶ But defense spending as a percent of national's GDP is considerably smaller now than during the Cold War so its spin-offs are inevitably less impactful on the broader economy.

The second period was the era of competition with Japan in the 1970s and 1980s. Japan made technology and process advances in production that the United States missed, leading to its quality production system. U.S. policymakers became concerned that although the United States was originating the leading innovations, the country was limited due to its disconnected innovation pipeline, in its ability to commercialize them.¹⁷ Japan used its quality manufacturing system to capture industrial leadership in automotive and electronics sectors previously led by the United States. The result was the "rustbelt"—declining Midwest and Northeast United States industrial areas. In response, the United States played catchup, taking years to understand the quality production advances.

NASA's push for moon landings through the Apollo Mission was another form of industrial policy in that era, creating a major space technology and satellite communications sector that has since been commercializing at large scale.

In this period, the U.S. also launched a series of new policy elements aimed at helping its innovators get across "the valley of death" between research and technology implementation. The Bayh-Dole Act of 1980 assigned ownership of federally funded research results to the universities where the research was executed, giving universities a stake in its commercialization.¹⁸ Typically, the universities shared these rights with the researcher inventors on their faculties and in their labs, incenting them to implement their ideas. It has proved particularly useful in supporting an emerging biotech sector, wherein biotech companies frequently spring out of university research.¹⁹ The Manufacturing Extension Partnership (MEP) program was authorized in 1988 to bring the latest manufacturing technologies and processes to small manufacturers around the nation, as small firms play such an important part in U.S. manufacturing output.²⁰ It was directly designed to bring Japan's quality manufacturing

approaches—often called "lean manufacturing" in the United States—to small and mid-sized firms. The MEPs have worked with thousands of manufacturers, and MEP studies maintain that, in the past 30 years, the centers have delivered some \$18.8 billion in cost savings and \$111.3 billion in increased or retained sales per year to small manufacturers.²¹ The Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) program began in 1982 and was a another successful "valley of death" program model.²² It offers competitive R&D grant funding to small and start-up companies, and there is a related program, the Small Business Technology Transfer (STTR) program that focuses on university-originated start-ups. These two competitive programs attempt to make small, high-tech, innovative businesses a part of the federal government's R&D efforts. Twelve federal departments and agencies participate in the SBIR program through required setaides from their total R&D funding, and five participate in the STTR program. SBIR and STTR award over \$3 billion to small businesses annually.

The R&D tax credit was enacted in 1981 to incentivize innovation by U.S. companies, rewarding them for increasing their investment in R&D in the current tax year. It was available to firms for developing new, improved, or technologically advanced products or processes.²³ Another program, Sematech, was the U.S. response in the 1980s when the U.S. semiconductor industry faced a massive challenge from Japanese competitors that began to dominate market share through lower-cost, higher-quality chip production systems. The program focused on semiconductor equipment makers to improve chip manufacturing processes. DARPA matched Sematech funding from 1991 until 1996; the effort reversed many industry production problems and the U.S industry returned to being the world's technology leader, which lasted until recently.²⁴ Together, SBIR, STTR, Sematech, and DARPA stood for targeted federal economic interventions in the innovation process that resulted in spurs to particular sectors or segments, such as innovative smaller firms and small manufacturers, to improve their competitive posture. The general success of these programs encouraged subsequent efforts.

A third period was around efforts to tackle climate change through energy innovation at the Department of Energy (DOE) during the Clinton and the Obama administrations. DOE shifted from an agency organized around fossil fuels, nuclear power, basic physical science research, nuclear stockpiles, and nuclear cleanup to much more of a new technology innovation organization. The older pieces remained, but added to DOE was an Advanced Research Projects Agency–Energy (ARPA-E), major renewable energy programs at an expanded Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE) agency, an Advanced Manufacturing Office, a Loan Programs Office (LPO) for new energy technology projects, Energy Innovation Hubs, SunShot, Energy Frontier Research Centers, and a Technology Transition Office.²⁵ Regulatory programs were expanded to drive technology shifts, with energy efficiency standards reaching new sectors. ARPA-E was emblematic of the new approaches.²⁶ It embraced the DARPA "right-left" model of envisioning needed new energy technology advances on the right side of the energy innovation pipeline and then pursuing the R&D breakthroughs on left side of the pipeline to get there. But DOE lacked a procurement program such as DOD's to drive its technologies into markets, which meant ARPA-E lacked an implementation partner. Its designers originally planned to use the robust U.S. venture capital system to get there, but in 2008–2009, venture capitalists backed out of energy technology because they considered it too risky and long term. So ARPA-E had to get creative, funding only those projects with a reasonable roadmap toward market acceptance, using DOE applied programs to help with scale-up after ARPA-E's initial investments, and establishing a "Tech-to-Market" team in the agency with private sector expertise to develop

commercialization plans for each project. DOE did have applied programs that could fund companies for technology development, and it had a loan program. For example, loans helped scale up numerous renewable energy start-ups (with one notable failure discussed below), and saved Tesla from bankruptcy in the 2008 recession, thereby allowing it to become the leading producer of electric vehicles.

A fourth period has been attempted in recent years around advanced manufacturing. U.S. manufacturing never fully recovered from its problems in competition with Japan. And when China arose in a remarkably short period to displace the United States as the world's largest manufacturer, U.S. manufacturing experienced a disastrous decade from 2000 to 2010.²⁷ Manufacturing employment declined by one third in that period, mostly due to global competition from China, not higher productivity; the United States only recovered a fifth of the nearly six million jobs it lost by 2019.²⁸ Manufacturing fixed-plant investment declined during that period, and U.S. manufacturing output only returned to its 2000 level in 2018. Today, U.S. manufacturing productivity growth has fallen to historically low levels, lagging behind its major competitors.²⁹ It runs an enormous trade deficit in goods, reaching \$911 billion in 2020, including a \$191 billion deficit in advanced technology goods.³⁰The result over the past decade and a half has been extensive social disruption, with an increasing portion of the American working class losing middle-skill jobs for lower-end service-sector jobs, thus creating rising income inequality.³¹ While, in the postwar period, the United States both innovated and produced here, realizing the gains of innovation at every stage, it increasingly shifted to an "innovate here, produce there" approach, outsourcing its production to lower-cost producers abroad. Manufacturing needs to be seen as part of the innovation system—the stage at which technology advances enter markets-and it requires highly creative engineering, particularly for new technologies and products, and often requires rethinking the underlying science inputs for meeting design and cost requirements. If manufacturing is part of innovation, then "producing" there" runs the risk of "increasingly innovating there."

While, in the postwar period, the United States both innovated and produced here, realizing the gains of innovation at every stage, it increasingly shifted to an "innovate here, produce there" approach, outsourcing its production to lower-cost producers abroad.

U.S. policymakers were very slow to see the implications of U.S. production decline. But by 2012, they began to pay attention to the innovation side of manufacturing. Taking a page from both Sematech and Germany's Fraunhofer Institutes, the United States created 16 manufacturing innovation institutes.³² Each is organized around a particular strand of advanced manufacturing technology, including additive manufacturing, digital production, robotics, power electronics, biofabrication, flexible electronics, and photonics. The institutes are a consortia of large and small producers, area universities and community colleges, and government, with industry, state, and regional support matched by federal government funding. They undertake collaborative applied research around their advanced manufacturing technologies with universities and industry, engage with regional manufacturing ecosystems, and provide workforce education. In short, they a return to a more "connected" model of innovation, incorporating postresearch innovation stages previously outside the federal purview and tying the innovation actors together in a way not previously undertaken in the federal government outside the defense sector. It is a complex model requiring diverse interests to partner and collaborate, but the institutes

have made significant progress. Of the 1,900 member organizations in the institutes, 61 percent are manufacturing firms, 70 percent of which are small and medium-sized manufacturers with 500 or fewer employees.³³ Total institute expenditures in FY 2019 were \$488 million, including \$133 million in base federal program funds and \$355 million in institute-generated funds from industry, academia, economic development, state government, and competitive federal funding.³⁴ This represents a 2.7-to-1 investment ratio in matching funding to base federal funding. These funds are invested in technology R&D, capital investments such as facility or manufacturing equipment purchases, institute operations, and education and workforce development programs. But the total federal funding to the institutes represents an underinvestment in the levels needed for a manufacturing transformation—it's difficult for some \$133 million in annual funding to leverage major change in a \$2 trillion manufacturing sector. And there are other programmatic gaps as well, including the inability to help test and finance the new production technologies in companies that are ready to take the risk of experimenting with and adopting them.³⁵

Why was the manufacturing funding modest given the size of the problem? One reason was a major setback for industrial policy approaches that occurred in 2011. A thin-film solar cell manufacturing company in California, Solyndra, obtained \$535 million in government-backed loans from the Department of Energy.³⁶ However, Chinese manufacturers had been dumping low-cost crystalline solar panels in U.S. markets, driving prices down, and Solyndra's more advanced thin-film technology could not compete. Solyndra declared bankruptcy and a partisan outcry and congressional investigations ensued. The episode resulted in a black eye for federal entanglements with industry outside of its traditional R&D role, forcing retrenchment for a time from industrial policy approaches. Solyndra remains a cautionary tale for future programs.

U.S. policymakers were very slow to see the implications of U.S. production decline. But by 2012, they began to pay attention to the innovation side of manufacturing.

In summary, the United States has engaged in a series of elements of industrial policy since the end of World War II, and by far the most significant has been through its defense system, wherein it built a series of innovation agencies and linked them to follow-on defense procurement investments. While the investments were made for defense reasons, many of the technologies were "dual use," creating new sectors in the overall economy, including space, nuclear power, computing, and the Internet. Most of the post-war innovation waves have come out of this connected system. Other efforts outside defense were smaller in scope and scale, but have still been noteworthy and often successful. These include various programs created in response to competitiveness pressures from Japan, new energy technology efforts to address climate change, and, lately, an effort to create public-private consortia to develop advanced manufacturing technologies. All have generally fit within the industrial policy definition of governmental policy interventions that alter economic activity in sectors, technologies, or tasks to improve economic prospects in ways non-interventionist market forces cannot. All have tended to share three general characteristics: to build on strong U.S. R&D capacity, to intervene to support particular technology sectors, and to take advantage (when available) of federal follow-on procurement funding or financing. But problems like Solyndra remain a warning light for future federal industrial policy attempts.

THE NEW INDUSTRIAL POLICY APPROACHES

A series of new industrial policy efforts are now taking shape that are dramatically different in size and scope than what has been attempted previously.³⁷ A major shift in fiscal policy approaches enabled this rather abrupt outpouring of billions of dollars for industrial policy. In March 2020, when it became clear that Covid-19 would unleash a worldwide pandemic, stocks fell almost as deeply as they had in 1929 and 1987. At a low point on March 23rd, U.S. stocks lost 30 percent of their value and globally, equities lost \$26 trillion.³⁸ An even more ominous development was that the Treasury market was becoming illiquid and dysfunctional. The situation appeared even more dangerous than the 2008 crash. The Federal Reserve led other central banks in a rapid response, unleashing three prongs of attack: It created a loan facility to back up credit card, auto, small business, and student lending; it took the unprecedented step of supporting direct credit to large employers by buying debt or loans directly from corporations; and it supported the public debt markets for state and local governments. Once investors understood the scale of these dramatic steps, markets rapidly stabilized. Trillions were involved, and trillions were seen to be needed. Supplementing the Fed's efforts, the Trump administration backed a \$1 trillion Covid relief bill in 2020 and the Biden administration \$1.9 trillion. In general, fiscal restraints were lifted in the face of the emergency, and other areas of federal spending were opened up in the name of recovery, including for industrial policies thought to be required for competition with China. And China's massive spending on industrial policy efforts themselves served as a spur for major investments.³⁹

The following discussion attempts to summarize and catalog five major recent efforts and identify their underlying approaches. The sheer size of the efforts and their variety of approaches is far beyond anything previously attempted outside the defense sector. Many elements listed are in still-pending legislation, but if they become law and are adequately funded, they could constitute a fifth and more systematic industrial policy period. They would signal a major policy turning point, marking a more widespread acceptance of these approaches.

The Semiconductor Industry

Semiconductors have been recognized for decades as a foundational technology, on which all software operates and data is processed. They are essential for defense technologies and systems, and for upcoming generations of advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI) and quantum computing.⁴⁰ And, of course, they are core to a host of societal services, such as computing, the Internet, and broadband, upon which the daily economies and functioning of societies are based.

The U.S. government is now undertaking its second intervention into the sector; the first was in the late 1980s. Although transistors, integrated circuits, and a host of semiconductor advances were developed in the United States, in the mid-1980s, the U.S. semiconductor chip industry was falling behind Japan's leading firms, Nikon and Cannon. In response, Robert Noyce, CEO of Intel, led the creation of Sematech in 1987 as a consortium of 14 semiconductor companies.⁴¹ He persuaded the Reagan administration to back a public-private partnership effort to restore U.S. technology leadership. DARPA provided \$500 million over five years, which was matched by the industry partners.⁴² The problem identified by the group was in chip manufacturing, and a major joint effort turned around the speed and quality of chip production systems, focused on improvements by chip equipment makers. Sematech is generally acknowledged to have played an

important role in the return of technology leadership in semiconductors to the United States. But by 2020, the United States faced a loss in chip leadership.

Although the United States has offshored much of its electronics production, in 2019, semiconductors were its largest electronic product export and its fifth-largest export product, amounting to some \$42 billion. In 2018, 44 percent of U.S.-headquartered firms' front-end semiconductor wafer capacity was located in the United States. American companies—including those with production abroad—held 45 percent of the global semiconductor market in 2019.⁴³ Despite those impressive-sounding numbers, the United States have only 12.5 percent of global semiconductor manufacturing facilities (fabs). They are located in 18 states and employ 240,000.

The world has become largely dependent on one semiconductor maker: TSMC in Taiwan.⁴⁴ It produces the great majority of the world's high-end, sophisticated chips as well as lower-end chips, which are in virtually all electronic products from computers to iPhones, and in platform technologies such as automobiles or aircraft. With the world's largest fabs, TSMC, as the manufacturer, provides the foundry for many well-known companies that design their own chips, such as Qualcomm.⁴⁵ TSMC passed Intel in recent years as the most important semiconductor maker and has become the world's 11th-largest company. As the first to reach the 7 nanometer (nm) scale, TSMC makes 92 percent of the newest cutting-edge logic chips (an indication that it has assumed technology leadership over U.S. firms).⁴⁶ But TSMC is located on an island that is vulnerable to Chinese interference; and China is making massive investments in semiconductor technology in a systematic effort to dominate the sector.

Certain aspects of the semiconductor ecosystem also require mention.⁴⁷ Concerning semiconductor materials—particularly rare earth materials—China dominates, and is making major investments in tools for assembly and packaging. In the area of manufacturing equipment, the United States shares leadership with Japan and the Netherlands. At the semiconductor manufacturing stage, as noted, Taiwan's TSMC leads, with Korea's Samsung in second place and Intel now in third. The most challenging production issue from the perspective of technology leadership is in high-end, state-of-the-art manufacturing at the 7 nm level and evolving toward the 5 nm level. Here, TSMC, as noted, now leads while Intel has fallen behind. The state-of-theart production sites are now overseas—not in the United States—in foundries that manufacture chips designed by and for other companies. This shift in production capacity in large part has been due to financing subsidies provided by foreign governments, which the U.S. government has been unwilling to undertake. A major signal of U.S. decline came in November 2020 when Apple, after having contracted with Intel for processors for 15 years, but wanting access to improved chip performance at the smallest nanometer scale, switched from Intel to TSMC for its chips.⁴⁸ So the United States now faces significant gaps in manufacturing. While its R&D and design capabilities are still solid, it is not translating them into production leadership in this area, as it has in so many other areas. And since, as noted, production needs to be seen as part of innovation and is deeply tied to it, production erosion leads to innovation erosion.

There is an additional and oncoming set of challenges around design and technology leadership. Start-ups play a potentially significant role in future innovation capability. But while U.S. venture capital has been available to U.S. start-ups in semiconductor fields at the seed stage, at the scale-up stage, when start-ups need to bring technologies into implementation, foreign capital has dominated. In terms of innovative U.S. firms in the semiconductor field seeking to raise Series B- and C-stage capital, a review of available capital from 2015 through 2017 shows they had to rely on foreign sources 66 percent of the time.⁴⁹ U.S. advances, then, are increasingly controlled, and can be shifted, abroad, leading to the familiar "innovate here, produce there" story.⁵⁰

Alerted to the security and geopolitical implications of these developments, in 2020, bipartisan leaders on the Senate Intelligence Committee introduced major legislation designed to restore U.S. semiconductor technology leadership. Known as the CHIPS (Creating Helpful Incentives to Produce Semiconductors) Act, the legislation authorized \$53 billion for a series of interventions into the semiconductor sector.⁵¹

R&D and technology development:

- Directs the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy, through the National Science and Technology Council and its Subcommittee on Semiconductor Leadership (responsible for the development of a national semiconductor research strategy) to ensure U.S. leadership in semiconductor technology and innovation, which is critical to American economic growth and national security, and to coordinate semiconductor R&D.
- Authorizes funding for DOD to execute research, development, workforce training, testing, and evaluation for programs, projects, and activities in connection with semiconductor technologies and direct the implementation of a plan to utilize Defense Production Act (DPA) Title III funding to establish and enhance a domestic semiconductor production capability.
- Creates new R&D streams to ensure U.S. leadership in semiconductor technology and innovation.
- Provides \$2 billion to implement the Electronics Resurgence Initiative of DARPA.
- Provides \$3 billion to implement semiconductor basic research programs at the National Science Foundation (NSF).
- Provides \$2 billion to implement semiconductor basic research programs at DOE.

Supply-chain review and support:

 Directs the secretary of commerce to complete a report assessing the capabilities of the U.S. industrial base to support national defense needs in light of the global nature of the supply chain and significant interdependencies between the U.S. industrial base and that of foreign countries related to microelectronics.

Financing for new production fabs in the U.S:

- Creates a 40 percent refundable investment tax credit (ITC) for qualified semiconductor equipment that is placed in service or for any qualified fab investment expenditures through 2024. The ITC is reduced to 30 percent in 2025 and 20 percent in 2026, and phases out in 2027.
- Directs the secretary of commerce to create a \$10 billion federal program that matches state and local incentives offered to a company for the purpose of building a semiconductor foundry with advanced manufacturing capabilities.

Advanced semiconductor manufacturing and packaging:

- Creates a new National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) semiconductor program to support advanced manufacturing in the United States. The program's funds will also support STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) workforce development, ecosystem clustering, U.S. 5G leadership, and advanced assembly and testing.
- Establishes a \$5 billion Advanced Packaging National Manufacturing Institute under the Department of Commerce (DOC) to establish U.S. leadership in advanced microelectronic packaging and, in coordination with the private sector, to promote standards development, foster private-public partnerships, create R&D programs to advance technology, create an investment fund (\$500 million) to support a domestic advanced microelectronic packaging ecosystem, and work with the secretary of labor on establishing workforce training programs and apprenticeships in advanced microelectronic packaging capabilities.

Cooperation with international programs:

Establishes a trust fund of \$750 million over 10 years to be allocated after an agreement is reached with foreign government partners to participate in a consortium in order to promote consistency in policies related to microelectronics, greater transparency in microelectronic supply chains, and greater alignment in policies toward non-market economies. To incentivize multilateral participation, a common funding mechanism is established to use this fund to support the development of secure microelectronics and secure microelectronics supply chains. A report to Congress is required for each year funding is available. This is particularly aimed at competition with China's state-directed semiconductor strategy.

The legislation engages at a series of technology development stages, consistent with our definition above: at the R&D stage to attempt to secure semiconductor technology leadership, at the supply chain level with an assessment of supply vulnerabilities, at the production financing level to assure location of fabs for producing advanced chips in the United States, in the development of advanced manufacturing technologies for both chips and related packaging areas, and with a fund to attempt to secure Asian and European cooperation in the face of massive Chinese subsidies of its semiconductor sector. It is clearly an industrial policy approach. The authorizing legislation for the program passed Congress in 2020 and full appropriations funding for the program is now pending before Congress.

The Endless Frontier Act

First introduced in May 2020 by Senate Majority Leader Charles Schumer (D-NY) and Senator Todd Young (R-IN.), with a similar version introduced at the same time in House, the "Endless Frontier Act" legislation aimed "to solidify the United States' leadership in scientific and technological innovation through increased investments in the discovery, creation, and commercialization of technology fields of the future."⁵² In April 2021, they introduced a revised version of the bill (S.1260) with 12 Senate cosponsors from both parties. That bill was renamed the "Innovation and Competition Act" and was amended during a May 2021 Senate Committee mark-up and again during Senate passage in June 2021, when it was passed by a bipartisan vote of 68 to 32. It is, as of this writing, in conference with House legislation of narrower scope.⁵³

With the final version unlikely to emerge until this fall, the version of the bill as passed by the Senate illustrates its new technology and industrial policy approaches:⁵⁴

- Authorizes over \$100 billion in funding for NSF, DOC, and DOE over five years, for both basic and applied research, and related programs—although approximately half of this total is for extensions of current programs, as opposed to new funding.
- Focuses on advancing 10 advanced technology areas, including AI; quantum computing; new high-performance computing and semiconductors; robotics, automation, and advanced manufacturing; biotechnology; cybersecurity; advanced materials; advanced energy technology; and advanced communication technology.
- Creates a new advanced Technology Directorate at NSF with \$29 billion over five years for applied R&D in the 10 advanced technology areas, largely through the new centers and other programs listed below.
- Directs the new Technology Directorate to fund University Technology Development Centers, which could be single universities or consortia between universities and industry.
- Instructs the new Directorate to apportion its budget between Technology Development Centers, innovation institutes, testbeds, lab-to-market initiatives, student and postdoc awards, other NSF directorates, and EPSCoR (Established Program to Stimulate Competitive Research), which provides R&D to less-established regional universities.
- Provides for regional scale-up of advanced technologies through "at least 10" Regional Innovation Hubs, run by consortia of industry, state, and local government and education institutions, selected and supported by DOC's Economic Development Administration (EDA) and NIST programs.
- Appropriates full funding of \$53 billion to implement the CHIPS Act, the major semiconductor initiative.

These are just highlights of the legislation, as it includes many other provisions. For example, to satisfy NSF's university basic research constituency, there is funding in the10 technology areas not only for applied research but for basic research at NSF. The bill also increases the annual budget of the rest of NSF—largely basic research—from the current level of \$8.5 billion to \$12 billion over five years. DOE research is also raised by \$17 billion to satisfy its large lab constituency.⁵⁵

The overall aim of the bill is to put the United States in a position to compete with major ongoing applied technology initiatives in China—an important reason behind its bipartisan support. Although the bill was significantly watered down in the course of markup and Senate passage, it does mark a shift from the long-standing U.S. basic research emphasis advocated by Vannevar Bush in 1945 to include more applied research.⁵⁶ Indeed, the bill's initial name, the Endless Frontier Act, is ironic, since it moves away from Bush's basic research emphasis in his Endless Frontier treatise toward applied R&D. NSF has long been the bastion of U.S. basic research, but the bill adds a major applied R&D directorate into the NSF basic research mix. NSF is America's one major, broadly focused R&D agency not tied to a specific, and narrower, mission.⁵⁷ But the nation's current problem is technology, not simply basic science—many argue it needs a new technology development thrust, and this has not been NSF's job. So the approach of this legislation is to form a technology focused subunit within the agency—the proposed new

Technology Development Directorate. Some have argued this will create a culture clash within NSF. Yet, we have a long history of basic and more use-inspired, applied research working in tandem, and the cultures can be complementary: DARPA works alongside the Naval Research Lab, and ARPA-E alongside the DOE's Labs and Office of Science. Critics of the bill have argued the other side of this point, that the problem won't be applied research spoiling basic, but that the long-standing basic research emphasis at NSF will limit technology development.⁵⁸

Optimally, the Technology Directorate could form part of a larger system. Getting to new technology, as opposed to new science, requires moving through a series of post-research stages: development, prototype, testing, demonstration, scale-up/piloting, initial markets, and full production. The proposed legislation attempts to recognize this, with organizational elements aimed to match the process:

- **R&D in critical technology areas:** Earlier-stage research elements would be performed at existing NSF directorates, and later-stage research as well as development would be performed through the new Technology Directorate.
- **Development and prototyping:** The University Technology Centers could perform this role, and importantly, they can be consortia, including industry participants.
- **Testing and demonstration:** New test beds are called for to prove and demonstrate the new technologies so they can get into the risk range industry and supporting forms of capital can work with.
- **Scale-up:** DOC-designated Regional Innovation Hubs, while designed to spread innovation capacity to more U.S. regions, could also support this stage of scaling-up toward production and preparing the regional technology ecosystems and infrastructure for introduction.

Creating and linking these new organizations will be a major challenge, but non-defense legislation that recognizes a need for an innovation system is a new step.

The Regional Innovation Hubs called for in the bill, to be funded and set up through the Commerce Department's EDA and NIST programs, is a new programmatic element that could be a way to encourage regional innovation. How could these regional innovation approaches work?

This issue has been studied for years. Michael Porter's work on innovation clusters dates back over two decades.⁵⁹ There has been much regional experimentation; we have had many regional kitchens trying many ingredients, and there is no exact recipe. Different regions can make different recipes work. Imposing innovation tasks on struggling regions, however, often does not work. Yet, there are examples of places that have become hubs of innovation activity not simply by accident but through concerted effort. To summarize a large literature in a few words, most believe we need regional ecosystems for innovation to thrive.⁶⁰ Typically, such an ecosystem includes an area education and research institution as an anchor for technology research and talent. Ecosystems also seem to need an organized public sector engaged with the private sector—including companies and area business groups—all pursuing a joint strategy.⁶¹ Solid larger firms linked to solid supply chains of smaller firms are another ingredient. Regions need to build on their existing regional strengths—not every area is going to be a biotech hub. Workforce education has become an increasingly significant component of a solid regional ecosystem so a number of regions are now encouraging companies and start-ups to come because they offer a

trained and skilled workforce that's tied to employer needs. This mean strong workforce programs for new skills at area community or technical colleges are also a component. Another feature of the legislation is grants to communities to help them build strategies for their regional assets. To summarize a few key points, there needs to be a broad engagement in innovation—a big tent—not a narrow, single-innovation focus; strong locally-based firms need to be engaged as "anchor tenants;" a connection is needed to the talent pipeline—state university and skills education programs, for example—which will be key to companies; and state and local governments need to strongly support the effort.⁶²

If the Regional Innovation Hubs anticipated in the legislation take on the innovation scale-up role in addition to the regional innovation capacity role, they will need to be located in regional ecosystems that can pull together existing assets such as those listed previously. To effectively compete for these, they will need to involve firms interested in implementing new technologies, and the Hubs should be able to muster their regional actors to show how they can help implement them. The Regional Hubs, then, are broader in purpose than the NSF University Technology Development Centers the bill will create, which will primarily support development through prototyping stages. More than prototyping is needed for successful innovation; additional actors are needed to move from those research-to-prototyping stages to work on the scale-up of new technologies. Not only universities are needed but regional industry associations, with both small and larger firms and their supply chains, community and technical colleges, and support from area government and economic development organizations. The Hubs could be the mechanisms to bring this additional combination of actors together. The Development Centers hopefully could be participants in the Hubs.

The Endless Frontier Act is full of experiments, as the nation begins to think about industrial policy approaches. Some will work, others may not, but, assuming much of this legislation becomes law, there should be important lessons learned.

Demonstration Projects for New Energy Technologies

On August 10, 2021, the U.S. Senate passed a major bipartisan \$1 trillion infrastructure funding package supporting highway and transit infrastructure, water and power infrastructure, and broadband Internet access. While it was a major political victory, the bill is less than half the \$2.6 trillion version the White House originally proposed, and it does not include some \$600 billion President Biden originally wanted to spend on R&D and related initiatives, including efforts to combat climate change.⁶³ However, the bill includes significant funding for advancing clean energy technologies, including electric vehicles and efforts to trap carbon dioxide produced by power plants before it enters the atmosphere, and related R&D.

The bill includes support for a wide range of energy projects:64

- **Carbon management projects:** regional direct air capture hubs, \$3.5 billion; carbon capture demonstration and pilot programs, \$3.47 billion; carbon storage commercialization, \$2.5 billion; industrial decarbonization demonstration projects, \$500 million; carbon utilization programs, \$310 million; and direct air capture prizes, \$115 million
- Clean hydrogen programs: regional clean hydrogen hubs, \$8 billion; clean hydrogen electrolysis demonstrations, \$1 billion; clean hydrogen manufacturing and recycling programs, \$500 million

- **Renewable energy programs:** waterpower, \$146 million; battery recycling R&D and demonstrations, \$125 million; wind energy, \$100 million; geothermal energy, \$84 million; solar energy, \$80 million; energy storage demonstration projects, \$505 million
- **Nuclear energy:** advanced reactor demonstration program, \$2.48 billion; industrial research centers, \$550 billion
- Critical minerals and materials projects and demonstrations: mineral security project, \$802 million; U.S. Geological Survey earth mapping initiative, \$320 million; USGS energy and minerals research facility, \$167 million; rare earths demonstration facility, \$140 million; USGS geological data preservation program, \$24 million

To highlight some examples of the programs and projects funded on the above list, the bill would greatly expand DOE's hydrogen R&D and demonstration activities, allocating \$8 billion to establish four regional clean hydrogen hubs, \$1 billion to support hydrogen electrolysis demonstration projects aimed at reducing production costs, and \$500 million for a clean hydrogen manufacturing and recycling program. It also would provide new funding for projects to remove carbon emissions directly from the atmosphere, including \$3.5 billion to establish four "regional direct air capture hubs." It also provides \$2.5 billion for a carbon capture demonstration program and close to \$1 billion for carbon capture technology pilot projects. Importantly, it includes \$500 million for industrial decarbonization programs in heavy industry, a neglected sector to date yet a major source of emission.⁶⁵ The Office of Nuclear Energy would receive \$6 billion for a new Civil Nuclear Credit Program that would subsidize economically ailing nuclear power plants, and there would be support for the recently formed Advanced Reactor Demonstration Program. And there would be support for a range of renewable energy projects.

There is a strong emphasis in the legislation on the demonstration stage of technology implementation, providing \$21.5 billion in funding for a new DOE Office of Clean Energy Demonstrations. DOE has long had a need to build technology demonstration capability for projects where the commercial sector lacks the incentive to carry out on its own. This is particularly the case for projects that meet climate change goals. While DOE has one of the world's largest armies of physicists, with some 12,000 in its labs, it historically has had very limited expertise in large-scale project engineering, project management, and project financing—the skill sets required for the massive new technology demonstrations it will be required by the new legislation to conduct.

The record of government-funded and government-run large-scale energy demonstration projects in the past has been mediocre. Projects such as the Clinch River Breeder Reactor, the Barstow Solar Power Tower, and two DOE-run synthetic fuel plants faced large cost overruns due to collapsing oil prices four decades ago, and conveyed only limited technology information to the private sector.⁶⁶ In more recent years, there has been a record of unsuccessful carbon capture and sequestration demonstration projects.⁶⁷

Former Energy Undersecretary John Deutch draws three lessons from the past problems with government demonstration projects.⁶⁸ First, indirect incentives (production payments, tax credits, loans or loan guarantees, and guaranteed purchases) for demonstrating the possibilities of new technology deployment to the private sector have important advantages over stand-alone, government-dominated demonstrations not well connected to potential users. Second, because

large demonstration projects with large cash outlays attract congressional interference, creating a quasi-public corporation to manage the demonstration provides insulation against congressional intervention.⁶⁹ Third, it is important to build flexibility and resilience into the economic model, which the private sector is better able to do, so that the executors of the project can react to changing market conditions and not make the mistake that plagued a number of projects: designing the demonstration solely around the assumption that current economics will always continue.

Deutch also argues that managing a commercial demonstration requires management expertise that the private sector has and the government doesn't. Since DOE lacks such expertise, a public corporation could be a means to recruit people that do have it. A public corporation would also be able to operate outside the limits of government procurement systems in an environment more comparable to that of a commercial firm. This private-sector expertise—in both major project financing and commercial-scale engineering—should be backed by the kinds of financial incentives previously described and by access to a sufficient multiyear stream of assured funding to permit the efficient execution of a demonstration project. Cost sharing with industry can provide a further incentive to cost control and commercial discipline.

While this legislation has not yet passed the House of Representatives, it is likely to. DOE faces a significant capacity problem in its ability to take on a major new demonstration role at this scale. These are significant industrial policy programs, and will not work unless the government builds the management capacity to handle them.

Assuring Secure, Domestic Supply Chains

In June 2021, the Biden White House, after 100 days in office, issued a major report in response to a prior presidential executive order, on "Building Resilient Supply Chains, Revitalizing American Manufacturing and Foster Broad-Based Growth."⁷⁰ The departments of Commerce, Energy, Defense and Health and Human Services all cooperated in the report's development. The report examined domestic supply chain gaps in four areas—pharmaceuticals and ingredients, advanced batteries, critical minerals, and semiconductors—making a long series of recommendations for bolstering supply chains in each area. In each of the four areas, some of the key findings and recommendations are summarized below.⁷¹

Pharmaceuticals and Pharmaceutical Ingredients

Key findings: The United States experienced serious supply problems for personal protective equipment and other needed medical supplies during the coronavirus pandemic, which led to a new awareness of supply chain issues in the medical sector. The report finds that the United States is dependent on imports for a range of key pharmaceutical products and Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs) —the primary ingredients of generic drugs—which represent 90 percent of all prescription medications filled. About 87 percent of API facilities for generic drugs are located overseas, which has left U.S. supply chains of essential medicines vulnerable. China and India control substantial parts of the supply chain where there are shortage issues. The drive by U.S. hospitals and medical systems to lower costs, as well as unfair trade practices, have led to a hollowing out of domestic production. More resilient supply chains, including improving supply transparency, building emergency capacity, and investing in domestic production, are all required.

Policy recommendations:

- The Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), using the DPA, plans to establish a public-private consortium for advanced manufacturing and onshoring of domestic essential medicines production. The consortium's initial task is to select 50–100 critical drugs, drawn from the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) essential medicines list, for a production onshoring effort.
- HHS will commit \$60 million from the DPA appropriation in the American Rescue Plan to develop novel platform technologies to increase domestic manufacturing capacity for APIs to reduce threats of future shortages.

Advanced Batteries

Key findings: Advanced, high-capacity batteries are integral to technologies that are needed for a clean energy transition and national security capabilities, from electric vehicles to stationary energy storage to defense applications. Demand for these products is set to multiply as supply chain constraints, geopolitical and economic competition, and other vulnerabilities continue to increase. The United States reliance on the importing of inputs for fabricated advanced battery packs from abroad exposes the nation to supply chain vulnerabilities that threaten to disrupt the availability and cost of the technologies that rely on them. With the global lithium battery market expected to grow by a factor of 5 to 10 by 2030, investment in scaling up a secure, diversified supply chain for high-capacity batteries is required. The full lithium battery supply chain, including the sourcing and processing of the critical minerals used in battery production through to end-of-life battery collection and recycling, needs attention.

Policy recommendations:

- DOE will release a National Blueprint for Lithium Batteries that will codify the findings of the battery supply chain review in a 10-year plan to urgently develop a domestic lithium battery supply chain.
- DOE's LPO will use the approximately \$17 billion in loan authority in the Advanced Technology Vehicles Manufacturing Loan Program to support the domestic battery supply chain.
- DOE's Federal Energy Management Program (FEMP) will launch a new effort to support deployment of energy storage projects by federal agencies. It will begin with a federal government-wide energy storage review that will evaluate the current opportunity for deploying battery storage at federal sites. The resulting projects will help build markets for materials supported in other efforts.

Critical Minerals

Key findings: China, using state-led, non-market interventions, has captured large portions of value chains in a series of critical minerals and materials needed for energy, electronics, and national security applications. China also accounts for an outsized share of the world's refining capacity, so that even if the United States diversified sources of critical minerals or increased domestic extraction, it would still be reliant on China for processing before use in end-product manufacturing. The United States needs to work with allies to diversity supply chains and invest in sustainable production, refining and recycling capacity domestically.

Policy recommendations:

- The Department of Interior (DOI) will establish a working group of agencies, including the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), to identify sites in the United States where critical minerals could be produced and processed.
- An interagency team of staff from agencies including DOI, USDA, EPA, and others with expertise in mine permitting and environmental law will identify gaps in statutes and regulations that may need to be updated.
- DOD will deploy DPA Title III incentives—including grants, loans, loan guarantees, and offtake agreements—to support sustainably produced strategic and critical materials, including scaling proven R&D concepts and emerging technologies.
- DOE's LPO, through its Title 17 Renewable Energy and Efficiency Energy Projects solicitation, will have more than \$3 billion in loan guarantees available to support efficient end-use energy technologies, such as mining, extraction, processing, recovery, or recycling technologies of critical materials.
- The U.S. Development Finance Corporation will expand international investments in projects that will increase production capacity for urgently-needed products, including critical minerals and other products.

Semiconductors

Key findings: As reviewed in more detail in the previous discussion of the CHIPS Act, the United States has fallen from 37 percent of global semiconductor production to just 12 percent over the last 20 years. The United States also lacks production capability at the most advanced technology levels. For leading-edge logic chips, the United States and its allies rely primarily on facilities in Taiwan, which produces 92 percent of such chips. This reliance on imported chips introduces new vulnerabilities into the critical semiconductor supply chain. The United States produces only 6 to 9 percent of the more-mature logic chips, where there is a major current shortage affecting many product sectors. The loss of production capacity threatens all segments of the semiconductor supply chain as well as overall economic competitiveness.

Key policies:

- The administration supports the provisions of the CHIPS Act to provide dedicated funding for semiconductor manufacturing and R&D at the level of \$50 billion.
- DOC will expand its partnership with industry to enable information flow between semiconductor producers, suppliers, and end users and support common strategies.
- The administration will strengthen engagement with allies and partners to promote fair semiconductor chip allocations, increase production, and promote increased investment.

This report contains numerous additional findings and recommendations, but these are just highlights. The report also makes clear that this was not to be the only supply chain effort. The administration is establishing a new Supply Chain Disruptions Task Force across agencies to address near-term supply chain challenges to the economic recovery, led by secretaries of commerce, transportation, and agriculture. It will focus on areas where supply/demand issues are a problem: homebuilding and construction, semiconductors, transportation, and agriculture and food. It will convene public and private stakeholders to evaluate problems and review solutions to bottlenecks and supply constraints. In addition, DOC will bring together data from across the

federal government to improve the federal government's ability to track supply-and-demand disruptions and to facilitate information sharing between federal agencies and the private sector to more effectively identify supply chain risks and vulnerabilities. The administration also plans to examine the ability of the EXIM Bank to use its existing authorities and lending ability to support domestic manufacturing of products—both production facilities and infrastructure.

Operation Warp Speed

Unlike the pending policy approaches previously listed, Operation Warp Speed (OWS) represents a new industrial policy approach that has been implemented and fully acknowledged as a major accomplishment, thereby showing the potential of this approach. Rather than listing a series of abstract policy recommendations, a review of this project allows characterization of its actual major thrusts. Nearly all of the historical industrial policy approaches from 1957 through 2018, described in the four periods above, were crisis-driven, and OWS faced a crisis on steroids: the sudden 2020 pandemic. It offers important lessons for other industrial policy efforts. A recent article by David Adler has described some of the program's elements.⁷²

At the beginning of 2020, when COVID-19, a virus that was both highly infectious and deadly, landed in the United States, the public health system was dangerously unprepared for the scale of the assault, and most of the nation's vaccine and medical supply industries had been outsourced. OWS was a partnership between HHS, DOD, and other agencies to develop, manufacture, and distribute effective vaccines against COVID-19. It was a public health triumph, delivering hundreds of millions of doses of new vaccines at unprecedented speeds—in a year not a decade—saving hundreds of thousands of lives. Organizationally, it was not a public-private partnership, it was a wholly governmental, cross-agency partnership, but directed at and with participation from the private sector.

The team: Since there is no substitute for talent, the mix of talent and agency expertise involved in OWS was an important indicator of its success. It was conceived by Dr. Robert Kadlec, assistant secretary for preparedness and response (ASPR) at HHS, joined by Dr. Peter Marks, director of the FDA's Center for Biologics and Research.⁷³ Kadlec had been an Air Force physician, biodefense official, and biotech executive and earlier developed the legislation creating the Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Agency (BARDA) in HHS, which had powers somewhat akin to DARPA's to advance biodefense and disease therapeutics and diagnostic tools. Marks is a medical doctor and cell and molecular biologist with experience in the pharmaceutical industry and in medical centers who led the regulation of vaccine products at the FDA. His Star Trek fandom led him to name the new organization "Warp Speed." Jared Kushner helped push the idea through White House approval, and it was formed on May 15, 2020. OWS was led by an experienced pharmaceutical vaccine executive, Moncrief Saloui.⁷⁴ He was aided by defense logistics expert, General Gustav Perna.⁷⁵ This group and their OWS colleagues operated as change agents at an accelerated speed to address a national crisis, cutting across bureaucratic lines and taking advantage of diverse agency expertise and legal authorities. OWS resembled a company, with an interagency board, but was a government operation, bringing in officials from key health agencies such as the FDA, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the National Institutes of Health (NIH) as well as DOD agencies, such as the Army Corps of Engineers and DARPA, and HHS agencies such as BARDA and ASPR, as needs arose. Dr. Matthew Hepburn, a former DARPA program manager and OWS's DOD lead for vaccine development, has said that "Warp Speed was inspired by DARPA but with a focus on

scaling and implementation. OWS was DARPA at scale."⁷⁶ He was referring to DARPA's reputation for sponsoring technology breakthroughs, finding top talent, providing fast implementation, and avoiding bureaucratic lethargy. OWS exemplified a series of industrial policy approaches.

Portfolio approach: OWS had the great advantage of many years of prior research on mRNA applications. Researchers Katalin Karikó and Drew Weissman at the University of Pennsylvania had discovered ways to increase mRNA's therapeutic potential in 2005. Dr. Dan Wattendorf, as a DARPA program manager, launched a DARPA project to rapidly develop vaccines, and focused on mRNA, funding new biotech companies, including \$25 million to Moderna, to advance it. Moderna completed phase one clinical trials in an mRNA vaccine by 2019. Work in nanolipids for delivery, and by Barney Graham and Jason McLellan through NIH on the structure of the Covid-19 spike protein, also led to advances. By the time COVID-19 arrived, mRNA was approaching scientific readiness. But mRNA had never received the resources needed to scale. OWS didn't want to rely solely on mRNA, which had not yet led to an approved vaccine, so it took another page from the DARPA playbook and decided on a portfolio approach. It surveyed over 100 pending vaccine projects, decided on four different types of vaccine technology platforms— some new, such as mRNA, and others more established—and then picked two companies to support each platform approach. It developed a portfolio to manage the technology risk, selecting a range of technologies and firms.⁷⁷

Guaranteed contracts: Once the firms were selected, OWS began targeting them with support. Key was the issuance of contracts for the production of their vaccines, even though the vaccines had not yet received emergency-use approval from the FDA. The OWS concept was that further vaccine development and clinical trials would proceed in parallel with actual vaccine production so doses would be ready for distribution as soon as they were approved. The government's guarantee that it would purchase the vaccine at scale enabled the firms to take the risk of ordering supplies and developing production facilities. It was a crucial tool that enabled rapid production scale up.

Manufacturing was a major challenge because the United States had offshored so much of its medical production capability. It had nearly stopped making masks, personal protective equipment, glass vials, swabs, and diagnostic tests. When the pandemic hit, the country was completely unprepared, and had to start reinventing production for those products in the face of exports from other nations collapsing as they moved to meet their own needs.⁷⁸ CDC, with responsibility for disease control, was more of an academic institution and had never focused on supply chain problems. CDC's early failure to a develop a sound test for the coronavirus and get it produced became a notorious signal of the nation's lack of preparedness. In vaccine production, the number of U.S. vaccine makers had declined from over 30 to just 4 firms because vaccines are such a poor market—selling a medicine that has to be taken daily for years is a sound market, preparing a vaccine that is used only during, or to prevent an, epidemic is not. Companies want blockbuster drugs people must take for life, not a vaccine that's taken once and solves the problem, and only has a large market if much of the population is facing a disease disaster. Much of vaccine production had shifted abroad, with India becoming the largest vaccine producer and China growing fast and hoping to dominate the sector. Pfizer had production capacity that, once it had a federal guaranteed contract of \$2 billion for 100 million doses if emergency approval was granted for its vaccine by the FDA, could be shifted to the

mRNA vaccine developed with the German BioNTech. But the smaller biotechs had limited manufacturing experience. So OWS intervened, building or refurbishing production plants, purchasing and fitting out equipment, hiring staff, enabling raw material supplies and purchasing vials, syringes, and needles in bulk.⁷⁹

Active companies: Effective industrial policy requires both an active and creative governmental role and willing and energetic company participants. If companies are neither committed to the project goals nor ready to invest in them, it will not work. In OWS, the government was able to work with committed leadership at committed companies such as Moderna and Pfizer, and partnering with BioNTech.⁸⁰

Flexible contracting mechanisms: OWS made extensive use of *Other Transactions Authority* (OTA), which was first developed by DARPA and used by DOD agencies, and offered a much faster and more flexible way to contract outside the glacial process of normal federal procurements. Contract agreements using OTA could be reached in days, not months, and were key to working with biotechs and smaller suppliers unaccustomed to complex federal contracting. The DPA dates back to the Korean War and allows the federal government in national emergencies to require suppliers to supersede serving their customers in order to meet security needs. It proved key to lining up supplies and resources for vaccine makers to avoid production delays. It can be a double-edged sword, however, and needs to be applied carefully to avoid disrupting other important markets.

Technology certification: The FDA's *Emergency Use Approval* (EUA) was another key to speed the FDA could use this approval to meet emergency health needs as opposed to having to wait for full and permanent approval that often takes years of reviews. This FDA step was vital: It amounted to a certification and validation of the technology, assuring instant market acceptance. FDA approval is the gold standard for medical products worldwide, and signifies that those products work. The majority of the American public immediately accepted the vaccines as soon as they received the FDA's EUA. Such a technology certification is completely unavailable for U.S. technologies outside the FDA's role in health technologies, but it shows the potential importance of technology certifications.

Mapping supply chains: The DPA enabled OWS to intervene into supply chains, but key to that was an in depth understanding of every facet of relevant supply chains. DOD, under General Perna, was used to supplying U.S. troops in Middle East wars, had a strong emergency logistics capability, and knew the importance of supply chain reliability and flexibility and how to map them. It sprang into action, helping the companies with these supply issues and working to manage the application of the DPA to get key supplies to vaccine makers while not disrupting other needed markets.

Integration of federal personnel with companies: OWS put federal agency personnel into certain companies to help them with the complex regulatory approval processes and to assist with project management and supply access. The Army Corps of Engineers oversaw construction to expand company production facilities.⁸¹ While OWS was a government-run enterprise, it integrated its staff with private sector companies to speed development, approval processes, and production. This integration did not compromise the process—the federal employees remained federal personnel—but they cut bureaucratic barriers and accelerated processing.

Distribution systems: OWS took on the task of not only supporting the production of vaccines but also getting the doses shipped to states based on a state population-based formula. Considering that the two mRNA vaccines had to remain frozen and required special complex handling, the logistics were remarkable, with only a tiny amount of vaccine ending up spoiled in shipment. But vaccine distribution did not mean actual administration of shots. While OWS originally decided that the military would create mass vaccination sites and administer the shots, the state public health bureaucracies insisted that administration was its role and OWS acceded. But the state health bureaucracies were not ready, and doses administered initially lagged far behind doses delivered. Exacerbating the problem, CDC set vaccination priorities in an impractical way, allowing the most elderly to go first since they were most at risk of dving, but then created a second priority that bundled together most of the rest of the population, combining social equity concerns with risk. This created a disorderly administration process in most states, with countless individuals jockeying with each other on state and local online sites trying to set vaccination dates. But after these initial rollout problems, which the Biden administration made it a priority to fix, by March, the doses administered scaled up to meet the demand. In the end, the United States led vaccine development and distribution, many weeks ahead of its EU developed nation counterparts.

OWS was just that: an operation. It was not about science research. The work on the science and the technology development behind it had been undertaken in the years before the pandemic. OWS was about scaling up a technology into manufacturing and getting it to users rapidly. Except in defense areas, the federal government simply never does this. It has systematically ignored American manufacturing decline; it has paid little attention to processes for scaling up new technologies and their related products; and it has developed few tools to undertake these steps. OWS worked only because military approaches to scale-up were systematically applied by a flexible new organization that reached across agencies. As Dr. Michael Hepburn, DOD's vaccine director, has pointed out, it was like a DARPA for scale-up. It revived interest in the United States in industrial policy, lifting it out of its long-dormant status as the whipping boy of mainstream economists. It represented a strong and remarkably successful industrial policy approach. The tools previously listed—diverse talent, guaranteed contracts, flexible contracting mechanisms, committed companies, technology certifications, mapped supply chains, federal officials integrated with companies, and distribution systems—need to be considered for other critical national needs, including but not limited to future medical emergencies.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES AND OPERATING MECHANISMS FOR A NEW INDUSTRIAL POLICY INFRASTRUCTURE

All of the programs listed meet the definition for industrial policy discussed at the outset. They involve governmental interventions at a range of various innovation stages aside from early-stage research—from development to prototyping, testing, demonstration, product development, production financing, market entry, and expanded market creation. Different programs operate at different stages, but all reach a number of post-research stages.

All face a challenge of public support. Will they be effective and resilient enough to become politically accepted? Programs that operate at various innovation stages are not enough. For an industrial policy program to work, it will require applying a number of guiding organizational principles—really, new operating mechanisms that amount to a new kind of infrastructure. When

tried in the past, industrial policy approaches outside the defense arena, particularly energy technology demonstrations, have sometimes failed. Getting these new programs to deliver on their promise requires applying a series of new operational mechanisms. This is an unstable area, where we haven't built the foundations to form strong projects, nor the talent base that will understand how to implement them. Examining our menu of five industrial policy examples, critical operational mechanisms and guiding organizational principles are delineated below that should be applied to each of the new programs. They amount to prerequisites for industrial policy programs to work.

Teams of change agents: Because innovation doesn't just happen, change agents are critical to complex innovation.⁸² Even if the elements of an innovation system are assembled, a catalyst or group of catalysts is needed to force the changes and connections required, just as a conductor is required for an orchestra. The team creating and leading OWS provides a good example of this change-agent role. Clearly, change agents and the leadership they can bring will be needed for industrial policy projects. There are other parts of the talent team that must be built as well. Although talented researchers are needed, since industrial policy stretches beyond research, a series of other skill sets belong in the talent team. As discussed in the section on DOE demonstration projects, project management, project engineering and project finance expertise will also be required. And those with bureaucratic know-how and understanding of the legal and contracting authorities could also prove vital, as OWS demonstrated. Understanding of regional innovation could also be key as projects called for in the Endless Frontier Act illustrate. The point is that a new set of skill sets is going to be required by these kinds of projects—not simply R&D skills, but a panoply of tech development, tech scale-up, tech financing, and tech production skills. Sticking traditionally trained scientists and engineers into leadership positions will not work; new education efforts will be required to create the needed change agents. We do not have this talent base in place outside the defense department, and it must promptly be built.

Connections to strong research foundations: While industrial policy projects focus on stages after initial research, a strong research foundation is critical that is connected to the follow-on stages. OWS was the beneficiary of vital research work on the mRNA and nanolipids that enabled rapid vaccine scale-up. Similarly, the applied technology advances called for in semiconductor advances, the Endless Frontier Act, and DOE demonstration programs will all require extensive foundational research. Industrial policy is not only about application, it must also integrate with earlier stage research. Ensuring "connected research" will be critical to ongoing and longer term applied efforts.

Rebuilt manufacturing foundations: A weakness of most of the industrial policy-type programs previously cataloged is that they lack a manufacturing element. Any industrial policy is going to be dependent on a strong manufacturing system; unless this system is strengthened, initiatives will tend to collapse like a house of cards in slow motion. As noted in the section discussing recent manufacturing initiatives, U.S. manufacturing productivity has fallen to historically low levels over the last 15 years, with investment in capital plant and equipment declining in parallel. They indicate that U.S. adoption of advanced manufacturing technologies and processes is lagging behind its major competitors, which are doing better on productivity. Manufacturing needs to be seen as part of the innovation process, a step the United States hasn't taken, although its leading industrial competitors have. Many of the five initiatives previously discussed focus on implementing advanced technologies, yet the United States is running, as noted, a

massive and growing \$191 billion deficit in advanced technology goods.⁸³ They are indicators that a number of these pending advanced technology industrial policy programs will simply not achieve their aims. They signal that renewed focus on advanced manufacturing as a foundation for these programs will be critical if they are to work, although these programs, such as the advanced manufacturing institute program, have received limited attention from the Biden administration to date. This is a critical gap that must be filled. Strengthening the manufacturing sector in general and implementing advanced manufacturing technologies and processes will be a critical foundation for industrial policy programs; without this strengthened foundation, they will not work.

Mapping supply chains and paying attention to gaps: In building an innovation system through industrial policy approaches, there can't be gaps in the system, as strong connections are required throughout the system. The exercise of mapping supply chains can be vital to an operational system. This supply chain mapping, and corresponding efforts to fill in gaps, was vital to OWS. It is already proving central to the effort to secure domestic supply chains for critical technologies and materials, and will be required in semiconductors, and for the technologies called for in the Endless Frontier Act.

Technology testing and demonstration: While many prototypes often evolve, only some will ultimately work well. Testing and demonstration are therefore critical innovation stages. DOD, which has long followed industrial policy approaches, builds them into virtually all its technology development programs, but they are often missed in civilian agency efforts. Testing and demonstration are also crucial to commercialization—firms and users will not be interested in a technology unless it is tested and proven. This is why developing testing and demonstration capability at DOE is so critical if new-battery, advanced-nuclear, and renewable technologies and processes for industrial decarbonization are to be developed and adopted.⁸⁴ This is the rationale for the DOE demonstration program. It will also be key, and so is built into, the Endless Frontier Act for the new technologies it will support.

Integration between agencies, industry, and universities: All the innovation efforts reviewed herein require implementation in the private sector. None are about Manhattan or Apollo technology projects conducted solely for the government. Therefore, they will all need to be fully integrated with industry efforts. This is the connection pathway semiconductors, Endless Frontier Act technologies, DOE demonstration projects, and secure domestic technology and material supply must follow. OWS provides a good example of the government closely integrating with private sector vaccine makers to the point where government personnel were located at firms to speed regulatory review and understanding. It is important for implementation success that industry partners be *actively engaged* and committed—if they are not, the projects will inevitably fail. Industry leadership is thus a significant aspect of successful industry engagement.

In programs that will move technologies from research through implementation, such as with semiconductor advances and the new technologies called for in the Endless Frontier Act, integration between university research, government agencies, and industry will be required. And the other projects will have important researcher aspects as well. These collaborations are complex, and there is not enough space here to spell out operation rules, but close integration between the three main actors—industry, universities, and government—will be vital. OWS, as discussed, provides examples.

Technology certification and validation: While the health sciences sector has a technology certification process (its FDA approval process) that is fully accepted and recognized, no other sector has a similar mechanism. It amounts to a widely accepted technology validation system. FDA approval guarantees immediate market acceptance, making it a very powerful innovation tool. It commands markets. The FDA's preliminary step to full approval, EUA, was a technology certification that proved vital to the success of OWS in limiting the effect of the pandemic and helping the adult population reach an over 70 percent vaccination rate. As noted, no equivalent certification is available outside the health sector, but its utility suggests that comparable technology certification or validation mechanisms should be considered as the government pursues industrial policy approaches.

Financing: Initiatives for industrial policy may grind to a halt unless financing is available for the technology projects required. There are a variety of financing types that may be appropriate for particular projects, including lending, guaranteed contracts, tax incentives, and procurement for initial market creation. Guaranteed contracts were crucial to OWS's ability to rapidly scale-up vaccine production, for example. The DOE demonstration program relies on authority from DOE's LPO, as do the critical materials and minerals-development efforts called for in the initiative to secure critical domestic technologies and materials (The latter also suggests that the EXIM Bank, which has some \$80 billion in lending authority, develop a domestic lending capability to meet domestic manufacturing requirements for these supply needs.

The semiconductor initiative uses ITCs as a financing tool to enable domestic fab and foundry creation. While the Endless Frontier Act does not specify a financing system, a section in the legislation calls for this authority. If advanced manufacturing is to be spurred as a foundational element for industrial policy initiatives, financing for new advanced manufacturing equipment, particularly at small and mid-sized manufacturers, will be needed. Recognizing this gap, Sen. Chris Coons (D-DE) and six colleagues have introduced legislation to create an Industrial Financing Corporation to invest in innovative manufacturing.⁸⁵ All these points underscore the importance of financing as a cornerstone of successful industrial policy initiatives.

Procurement: Most of the above mechanisms for implementing industrial policy efforts operate on the supply side in promoting technology development. What about the demand side? Government has an additional tool: its large procurement programs, which can be applied for innovative new products and technologies. If government can act not simply as a technology-development supporter but as an initial market creator, as it frequently does with new defense technologies, then it can help assure scaling and acceptance of new technologies and systems. Federal procurement and programs play a massive role in defense-related and health sectors-the accelerated vaccine procurement effort behind OWS is a good example. The character of demand also shapes the new industrial production processes, and the federal government can use its leverage over demand. For example, while defense production accounts for only a modest portion of total manufacturing output, a surprisingly sizeable proportion of manufacturers rely on some defense contracts. Defense procurement therefore can leverage significant advances in production processes through requirements for its contractor base to adopt advanced manufacturing technologies. Effective use of federal procurement can play a significant role in creating initial markets for new technologies in a number of areas, helping shape the demand that will be key for new technologies to scale.

Flexible contracting mechanisms: These go hand-in-hand with procurement approaches. The DPA provides authority for intervention into manufacturing supply chains to assure rapid production scale-up of critical goods related to national security. This authority proved critical to the success of OWS in rapidly developing and producing vaccines. Application of DPA authority is cited in the initiatives for DOE demonstrations and to secure critical technologies and materials. Another example of flexible contracting authority is the "Other Transactions Authority," developed initially by DARPA to enable rapid contracting outside the cumbersome procedures of standard federal procurement, and then applied by other agencies as well. These and other examples of flexible contracting authority may prove critical to industrial policy approaches, as OWS indicates.

CONCLUSION

While DOD has long operated an industrial policy system with economic interventions at many stages of the innovation process, this is largely a new road for government in the civilian economy. There are, of course, historical precedents, including the programs developed to respond to Japan's development of quality production technologies and processes, development of energy technologies in the 2000s, and the effort to create advanced manufacturing institutes after 2012. But the plethora of new industrial policies proposed in 2020 and 2021 summarized herein is unprecedented. While only some will likely go into effect, these could amount to a fifth and larger-scale period of industrial policy approaches. This report has attempted to catalog them in some detail, and also to delineate key operational mechanisms—in effect, a new supporting infrastructure—that will be required in organizing these approaches to make them fruitful. Industrial policy is a complex process with many actors, and it requires a careful plan, strong foundational programs, and a spirit of enterprise to accomplish it. As the Pentagon has long since discovered, you can't just build the pieces, you have to build the system. This work has attempted not only to review the new programs but to set out the foundational infrastructure they will require.

About the Author

William B. Bonvillian is a lecturer at MIT and senior director for special projects at MIT Open Learning. He was formerly the director of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT) Washington, D.C., office, where he worked to support MIT's strong and historic relations with federal R&D agencies and its role in national science policy. Prior to that position, he served for 17 years as legislative director and chief counsel to Senator Joseph Lieberman (I-CT). His legislative efforts in the Senate included science and technology policies and innovation issues. He is the coauthor of five books on these topics and of numerous articles and book chapters.

About ITIF

The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) is an independent, nonprofit, nonpartisan research and educational institute focusing on the intersection of technological innovation and public policy. Recognized by its peers in the think tank community as the global center of excellence for science and technology policy, ITIF's mission is to formulate and promote policy solutions that accelerate innovation and boost productivity to spur growth, opportunity, and progress.

For more information, visit itif.org.

ENDNOTES

1. See generally: William B. Bonvillian and Peter L. Singer, *Advanced Manufacturing, the New American Innovation Policies* (Cambridge, MA.: MIT Press 2018), 45.

Also see: Alexander Hamilton, Report on Manufactures (to the U.S. House of Representatives), December 5, 1791, Introduction, in Hamilton, Henry Cabot Lodge, ed., *The Works of Alexander Hamilton* (Federal Edition), Industry and Commerce, reproduced at https://oll.libertyfund.org/titles/hamilton-the-works-of-alexander-hamilton-federal-edition-vol-4#lf0249-04_head_012.

Further: Alexander Hamilton, *Report Relative to the Additional Supplies for the Ensuing Year* (to the Speaker of the House), Treasury Department, March 16, 1792, in National Archives, Founders Online, https://founders.archives.gov/documents/Hamilton/01-11-02-0079.

Finally: National Academies of Sciences, National Materials and Manufacturing Board, Strategic Long-Term Participation by DOD in its Manufacturing USA Institutes, 2019, 80-81, https://www.nap.edu/read/25417/chapter/9.

- 2. Merritt Roe Smith, George Washington and the Establishment of the Harpers Ferry Armory, *The Virginia Magazine of History and Biography*, v. 81, n. 4 (Oct. 1973, 415-436, https://www.jstor.org/stable/4247826; Merritt Roe Smith, Harpers Ferry Armory and the New Technology (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 1977), 28.
- 3. Summarized in, Bonvillian and Singer, *Advanced Manufacturing*, 18-21.
- 4. New Jersey Community Development Corp., Patterson, N.J., History of Patterson, https://www.njcdc.org/what-we-do/page.php?Revitalizing-Paterson-Great-Falls-Promise-Neighborhood-History-of-Paterson-24; Society for Establishing Useful Manufacturers (SUM), https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Society_for_Establishing_Useful_Manufactures
- 5. Vannevar Bush, *Science, the Endless Frontier* (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office 1945), http://www.nsf.gov/od/lpa/nsf50/vbush1945.htm.
- 6. Ken Warwick, "Beyond industrial policy: Emerging issues and new trends," OECD Science, Technology and Industrial Policy Paper No. 2, OECD, Paris, 2013, 16, https://www.enterprisedevelopment.org/wp-content/uploads/Beyond_Industrial_Policy.pdf. See generally, UN Conference on Trade and Development (UNTAD), Virtual Institute Teaching Material on Structural Transformation and Industrial Policy, Module 2: Industrial policy: a theoretical and practical framework to analyse and apply industrial policy, (NY and Geneva: UNCTAD 2016), https://unctad.org/system/files/nonofficial-document/indpolfull_UNCTAD_material.pdf; John Page and Finn Tarp (eds.), *Industrial Policy, government-Business coordination in Africa and East Asia* (Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press 2017), https://library.oapen.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.12657/31446/628111.pdf.
- 7. Robert Atkinson, "Why the United States Needs a National Advanced Industry and Technology Agency," ITIF, June 17, 2021, 1, https://itif.org/publications/2021/06/17/why-united-states-needs-national-advanced-industry-and-technology-agency.
- 8. Mariana Mazzucato, Rainer Kattel, and Josh Ryan-Collins, "Challenge Driven Innovation Policy: Towards a New Toolkit," *Journal of Industry, Competition and Trade,* 2020, vol. 20, issue 2, No 11, 437, https://econpapers.repec.org/article/kapjincot/. See also, Mariana Mazzucato, *Mission Economy: A Moonshot Guide to Changing Capitalism* (New York: Harper Business 2020).
- 9. Suzanne Berger, Industrial Policy's Comeback, *Boston Review*, Sept. 15, 2021, https://bostonreview.net/forum/industrial-policy's-comeback/suzanne-berger-back-down-earth.
- 10. Bush, *Science, the Endless Frontier*, Summary, Chapt. 2 ("In Peace"), Chapt. 3 ("Science and Jobs").
- 11. Merrit Roe Smith and Leo Marx, eds., *Does Technology Drive History? The Dilemma of Technological Determinism* (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press 1994).

- For a discussion of the dynamics of innovation, see, William B. Bonvillian and Charles Weiss, *Technological Innovation in Legacy Sectors* (Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press 2015), 23–36, 181– 196.
- 13. Charles L Schultze, "Industrial Policy: A Dissent," *Brookings Review*, Wash., D.C., Fall 1983, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/industrial_policy_schultze.pdf.
- 14. This account of the four periods draws on a more detailed article, William B. Bonvillian, "The New Model Innovation Agencies: An overview," *Science and Public Policy*, v. 41, n. 4, Sept. 26, 2014, 425-437, https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/sct059.
- 15. William Bonvillian, Richard Van Atta, and Patrick Windham, eds., *The DARPA Model for Transformative Technologies* (Oxford, UK: Open Book Publishers 2020), https://www.openbookpublishers.com/product/1079.
- 16. Vernon W. Ruttan, *Is War Necessary for Economic growth? Military Procurement and Technology Development* (Oxford and New York: Oxford Univ. Press 2006).
- 17. Kent Hughes, *Building the Next American Century: The Past and Future of American Economic Competitiveness* (Wash., DC and Baltimore MD: Woodrow Wilson Center Press and Johns Hopkins Univ. Press 2004).
- 18. 35 U.S.C. 200-212.
- 19. Birch Bayh, Joseph P. Allen, and Howard W. Bremer, "Universities, Inventors and the Bayh Dole Act," *Life Sciences Law and Industry Report*, Vol. 3, No. 24 (BNA, Dec. 18, 2009); David Roessner et al., "The Economic Impact of Licensed Commercialized Inventions Originating in University Research 1996-2007," Final Report to the Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO Sept. 3, 2009) https://www.bio.org/sites/default/files/legacy/bioorg/docs/files/BIO_final_report_9_3_09_rev_2_0.pdf.
- See PL 100-519, Title I, Sec. 102(d) (Oct. 24, 1988); 102 Stat. 2590; 15 USC Chapt. 7, Sec. 278k (Regional Centers for the Transfer of Manufacturing Technology); 15 CFR Sec. 290.6, http://www.mep.nist.gov/about-mep/legislative-history.htm.
- 21. "NIST, MEP, About MEP, 30 Years Of Advanced Manufacturing," https://www.nist.gov/mep/manufacturing-infographics/30-years-advancing-us-manufacturing-mepnational-network. See also, National Academies of Sciences, Science, Technology and Economic Policy (STEP) Board, "21st Century Manufacturing, The Role of the Manufacturing Extension Partnership Program" (W., DC: National Academies Press, 2013), https://www.nap.edu/read/18448/chapter/1.
- 22. 15 USC 638; Small Business Administration, SBIR-STTR, About, https://www.sbir.gov/about. A series of National Academies of Sciences studies of agency SBIR programs has supported their role. See, for example, National Research Council, An Assessment of the SBIR Program (Wash., D.C.: National Academies Press 2008), viii (list of NRC SBIR studies), 54–90 (Findings and Recommendations), http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record_id=11989&page=R1.
- 23. Yair Holtzman, "The Research and Development Tax Credit," *The CPA Journal*, October 2017, https://www.cpajournal.com/2017/10/30/u-s-research-development-tax-credit/.
- 24. Larry D. Browning and Judy C. Shetler, *Sematech: Saving the U.S. Semiconductor Industry*, (College Station, Tex.: Texas A&M Univ. Press 2000); Robert D. Hof, "Lessons from Sematech," *MIT Technology Review* (July 25, 2011), https://www.technologyreview.com/2011/07/25/192832/lessons-from-sematech/. Another innovative program of the era, the Advanced Technology Program (ATP), was based at the Commerce Department's NIST and funded innovative technology development projects at companies, but was discontinued by Congress in 2011. National Research Council, Science, Technology and Economic Policy (STEP) Board, *The Advanced Technology Program: Challenges and Opportunities* (Nat'l Academies Press 1999), http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?isbn=0309067758; Rosalie Ruegg and

Irwin Feller, "A Toolkit for Evaluating Public R&D Investment Models, Methods, and Findings from ATP's First Decade" (NIST GCR 03-857 2003), https://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/gcr/2003/NIST.GCR.03-857.pdf.

- 25. William B. Bonvillian, "Applying Innovation Policy to the U.S. Energy/Climate Challenge," Chapt. 12 in Raphael Heffron and Gavin Little, eds. *Delivering Energy Law and Policy in the EU and US* (Edinburgh, UK: Edinburgh Univ. Press 2016).
- 26. William B. Bonvillian and Richard Van Atta, "ARPA-E and DARPA: Applying the DARPA model to energy innovation," *Journal of Technology Transfer* (Oct. 2011).
- 27. William B. Bonvillian and Peter L. Singer, *Advanced Manufacturing—the New American Innovation Policies* (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press 2018), 15–64.
- 28. Adams Nager, "Trade vs. Productivity: What Caused U.S. Manufacturing's Decline and How to Revive it," ITIF, Feb. 13, 2017, https://itif.org/publications/2017/02/13/trade-vs-productivity-what-caused-us-manufacturings-decline-and-how-revive; Adams B. Nager and Robert D. Atkinson, "The Myth of America's Manufacturing Renaissance: The Real State of U.S. Manufacturing," ITIF, Jan. 2015, https://www2.itif.org/2015-myth-american-manufacturing-renaissance.pdf.
- 29. For example, see, Robert Atkinson, "U.S. Manufacturing Productivity is Falling and It's a Cause for Alarm," *Industry Week*, July 12, 2021, https://www.industryweek.com/the-economy/article/21169426/falling-us-manufacturing-productivity-is-cause-for-alarm.
- 30. U.S. Census Bureau. International Trade in Goods and Services, U.S. Trade in Goods, 2020, https://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/Press-Release/current_press_release/index.html; U.S. Census Bureau, Trade in Goods with Advanced Technology Products, 2020 and 2019, https://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/balance/c0007.html#2021.
- 31. See, for example, David H. Autor, David Dorn, and Gordon H. Hanson. "The China Shock: Learning from Labor Market Adjustment to Large Changes in Trade, National Bureau of Economic Research," NBER Working Paper 21906, Jan. 2016, http://www.nber.org/papers/w21906; A. Michael Spence, "The Impact of Globalization on Income and Employment: The Downside of Integrating Markets," *Foreign Affairs* 90, n. 4, July–August 2011, 28–41.
- 32. President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology, "Capturing Domestic Competitive Advantage in Advanced Manufacturing," Report of the Advanced Manufacturing Partnership, July 2012, 21-24, https://www.manufacturingusa.com/reports/report-president-capturing-domestic-competitive-advantage-advanced-manufacturing; Bonvillian and Singer, *Advanced Manufacturing*, 131–186.
- 33. NIST, Manufacturing USA 2019–2020 Highlights Report, 2020, v, https://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/ams/NIST.AMS.600-6.pdf.
- 34. NIST, Highlights Report, 6–7.
- 35. William B. Bonvillian, "Restoring U.S. Leadership in Manufacturing," Day One Project, Jan. 23, 2020, https://www.dayoneproject.org/post/restoring-u-s-leadership-in-manufacturing. See also, William B. Bonvillian, "Ensuring Manufacturing USA Reaches its Potential," Day One Project, August 2021, https://www.dayoneproject.org/post/ensuring-manufacturing-usa-reaches-its-potential.
- 36. Melissa Lott, "Solyndra Illuminating Energy Funding Flaws?" *Scientific American*, Sept. 27, 2011, https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/plugged-in/solyndra-illuminating-energy-funding-flaws/
- 37. See generally, Emily Maher, Manufacturing Our Way Into the Future, National Conference of State Legislatures, July 2021, https://www.ncsl.org/research/fiscal-policy/manufacturing-our-way-into-the-future-637617831.aspx.

- 38. These events are detailed in, Adam Tooze, *Shutdown: How Covid Shook the World's Economy* (New York: Penguin Random House 2021), 79-154.
- 39. See, for example, Barry Naughton, *The Rise of China's Industrial Policy, 1978-2020* (Univ. Nacional Autonoma de Mexico 2021), https://dusselpeters.com/CECHIMEX/Naughton2021 Industrial Policy in China CECHIMEX.pdf.
- 40. DoD has contracted with Intel for secure semiconductor foundry services as part of its Rapid Assured Microelectronics Prototypes Commercial (RAMP-C) program to build up domestic design and production of cutting-edge semiconductor chips. Other firms are also involved in the consortium. Dave Sebastian, "Intel Wins Defense Department Award for Domestic Chip Making," *Wall Street Journal*, August 23, 2021, https://www.wsj.com/articles/intel-wins-defense-department-award-for-domestic-chip-making-11629726220.
- 41. Leslie Berlin, *The Man Behind the Microchip: Robert Noyce and the Invention of Silicon Valley* (Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press 2005), 257-305.
- 42. Larry D. Browning and Judy Shetler, *Sematech: Saving the U.S. Semiconductor Industry* (College Station, TX; Texas A&M Press 2000).
- 43. Semiconductor Industry. Association, Semiconductor 2019 Factbook, https://www.semiconductors.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/2019-SIA-Factbook-FINAL.pdf.
- 44. Yang Jie, Stephanie Yang and Asa Fitch, "The World Relies on One Chip Maker in Taiwan," *Wall Street Journal*, June 19, 2021, https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-world-relies-on-one-chip-maker-in-taiwan-leaving-everyone-vulnerable-11624075400.
- 45. Intel, which long emphasized production of chips of its own design, has recently moved toward a foundry approach, announcing plans for two new foundries in Arizona at a cost of \$20 billion. Stephen Nellis, "Intel to spend \$20 billion on U.S. chip plants as CEO challenges Asia dominance," *Reuters*, March 23, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/intel-doubles-down-chip-manufacturing-plans-20-billion-new-arizona-sites-2021-03-23/.
- 46. Greg Slater, "VP Intel, American Technology Leadership is Critical to Semiconductor Supply Chain Resiliency," *Intel blog*, June 8, 2021, https://blogs.intel.com/policy/2021/06/08/american-technology-leadership-is-critical-to-semiconductor-supply-chain-resiliency/#gs.8t4ndh.
- 47. Melissa Griffith and Sophie Goguichvili, "The U.S. Needs a Sustained, Comprehensive and Cohesive Semiconductor National Security Effort," Wilson Center, March 23, 2021, https://www.wilsoncenter.org/blog-post/us-needs-sustained-comprehensive-and-cohesive-semiconductor-national-security-effort.
- 48. Kif Leswing, "Apple is breaking a 15-year partnership with Intel on its Macs," *CNBC*, Nov. 10, 2020, https://www.cnbc.com/2020/11/10/why-apple-is-breaking-a-15-year-partnership-with-intel-on-itsmacs-.html.
- 49. Griffith and Goguichvili, Wilson Center, 2021.
- 50. Ibid.
- CHIPS for America Act, S.3933, 116th Cong. 2nd Sess., introduced June 10, 2020, https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/3933/. See also, Sen. Mark Warner, "Bipartisan, Bicameral Bill Will Help Bring Production of Semiconductors Back to U.S.," press release, June 10, 2020, https://www.warner.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/2020/6/bipartisanbicameral-bill-will-help-bring-production-of-semiconductors-critical-to-national-security-back-to-u-s.
- 52. Sen. Todd Young (R-Ind.), "Young, Schumer Unveil Endless Frontier Act to Bolster U.S. Tech Leadership and Combat China," Todd Young website, May 27, 2020, https://www.young.senate.gov/newsroom/press-releases/young-schumer-unveil-endless-frontier-act-tobolster-us-tech-leadership-and-combat-china.

- 53. House Committee on Science, Space and Technology, summary of HR 2225, NSF for the Future Act, and of HR 3593, DOE Science for the Future Act, https://housesciencecommittee.medium.com.
- 54. AIP, Endless Frontier Act, S.1260/HR 2731, FYI Bill Tracker, https://www.aip.org/fyi/federal-sciencebill-tracker/117th/endless-frontier-act; Congress.Gov. S. 1260 The United States Innovation and Competition Act of 2021, 117th Congress, 1st Sess., https://www.congress.gov/bill/117thcongress/senate-bill/1260.
- 55. German Lopez, "How Congress wrecked its own science bill," *Vox*, June 4, 2021, https://www.vox.com/2021/6/4/22518923/endless-frontier-act-innovation-competition-act-chinacongress; Samuel Hammond, "How Congress Ruined the Endless Frontier Act," Niskanen Center, May 20, 2021, https://www.niskanencenter.org/how-congress-ruined-the-endless-frontier-act/.
- 56. Atkinson, "Why the United States Needs a National Advanced Industry and Technology Agency,", 1– 3.
- 57. Discussion here draws from Testimony of William B. Bonvillian to the Senate Committee on Commerce Science and Transportation, on the Endless Frontier Act, April 14, 2021, https://www.commerce.senate.gov/services/files/0DAF8ACC-8382-4E85-BEBA-1F8B5F577922.
- 58. Patrick Windham, Christopher Hill, and David Cheney, "Improving the Endless Frontier Act," *Issues in Science and Technology*, August 5, 2020, https://issues.org/improving-the-endless-frontier-act/.
- 59. Michael Porter, "Clusters and the New Economics of Competition," *Harvard Business Review*, Nov.-Dec. 1998, https://hbr.org/1998/11/clusters-and-the-new-economics-of-competition. For a summary of limitations in the theory, see, for example, Yasuyui Motoyama, "What Was New About Cluster Theory?" *Economic Development Quarterly*, V. 22, n. 4, Nov. 2008, 355–363, https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.910.884&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- 60. See, for example, R. Atkinson, M. Muro and J. Whiton, "The Case for Growth Centers," ITIF and the Brookings Institution, Dec. 2019, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Full-Report- Growth-Centers_PDF_BrookingsMetro-BassCenter-ITIF.pdf; Jonathan Gruber and Simon Johnson, *Jumpstarting America, How Breakthrough Science can Revive Economic Growth and the American Dream* (NY: Public Affairs Publishing 2019).
- 61. Ben Armstrong, "Brass cities: Innovation policy and local economic transformation, MIT Department of Political Science" (thesis), 2019, https://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/122404.
- 62. Ben Armstrong, "Industrial Policy and Local Economic Transformation," *Economic Development Quarterly* (June 14 2021), https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/08912424211022822.
- 63. Robert F. Service, "'Big Step Forward,' Energy expert analyzes the new U.S. infrastructure bill," *Science Insider*, August 11, 2021, https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2021/08/big-step-forward-energy-expert-analyzes-new-us-infrastructure-bill.
- 64. American Institute of Physics (AIP), "Billions for R&D Included in Senate-Passed Infrastructure Bill," *FYI Bulletin*, no. 75, August 13, 2021.
- 65. David Hart, "Building Back Cleaner with Industrial Decarbonization Demonstrations," ITIF, March 8, 2021, https://itif.org/publications/2021/03/08/building-back-cleaner-industrial-decarbonization-demonstration-projects.
- 66. The U.S. Synthetic Fuels Corporation (SFC), created by the Energy Act of 1980, was abandoned after energy prices collapsed from their 1980 highs to less than \$20 a barrel (S. 932, Public Law 96-294 (June 23, 1980); Termination of US SFC Act, April 7, 1986, Public Law 99-272, Title VII, Subtitle E, 100 Stat. 143.

- 67. See, for example, Megan Geuss, "\$7.5 billion Kemper power plant suspends coal gasification," *Ars Technica*, June 28, 2017, https://arstechnica.com/information-technology/2017/06/7-5-billion-kemper-power-plant-suspends-coal-gasification/.
- John Deutch, What Should the Government Do to Encourage Technical Change in the Energy Sector?, Report No. 120 (Cambridge, MA: MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, May 2005). This discussion is drawn from William B. Bonvillian and Charles Weiss, Structuring an Energy Technology Revolution (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press 2009), 120–121.
- 69. For a detailed discussion of government corporations, see A. Michael Froomkin, Reinventing the Government Corporation, *Illinois Law Review* 543 (1995).
- 70. White House, "Building Resilient Supply Chains, Revitalizing American Manufacturing and Fostering Broad-Based Growth, 100-Day Review under Executive Order 14017," report, June 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/100-day-supply-chain-review-report.pdf.
- 71. Wording drawn from, White House, "Building Resilient Supply Chains Report, and supporting White House Fact Sheet," June 8, 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/06/08/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-announces-supply-chain-disruptions-task-force-to-address-short-term-supply-chain-discontinuities/.
- 72. David Adler, "Inside Operation Warp Speed: A New Model for Industrial Policy," *American Affairs*, v. 5, n. 2, Summer 2021.
- 73. Robert Kadlec, Bio at, https://www.phe.gov/newsroom/bio/Documents/kadlec-bio-print.pdf. Peter Marks, Bio at, https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/fda-organization/peter-marks.
- 74. Moncrief Saloui, Bio at, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Moncef_Slaoui.
- 75. Gen. Gustav Pena, Bio at, https://www.amc.army.mil/Portals/9/Documents/Bios/Bios/Bio%20-%20Gen%20Perna.pdf.
- 76. Adler, "Inside Operation Warp Speed."
- 77. Moncrief Slaoui and Matthew Hepburn, "Developing Safe and Effective Covid Vaccines," *New England Journal of Medicine* v. 383, no. 18 (2020), 1701–1703, https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp2027405.
- 78. OWS focused on vaccines, not PPE; the Trump Administration left this problem, with some exceptions, to the states to solve. One state's efforts to tackle this problem is reviewed in Elizabeth Reynolds, Dan Trafficante, and Anna Waldman-Brown, "Strengthening Manufacturing Innovation Ecosystems Before, During and After Covid," MIT Work of the Future Working Paper, Jan. 22, 2021, https://workofthefuture.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/2021-Working-Paper-Reynolds-Traficonte-WaldmanBrown.pdf.
- 79. Slaoui and Hepburn, "Developing Safe and Effective Covid Vaccines."
- 80. Andrew Lo, MIT Sloan School, interview with Moderna CEO Stephane Bancel, April 20, 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XvYiuoJ_Irl; Nathan Vardi, "The Race is On," *Forbes Magazine*, May 20, 2020, https://www.forbes.com/sites/nathanvardi/2020/05/20/the-man-betting-1-billion-that-pfizer-can-deliver-a-vaccine-by-this-fall/; David Gelles, "The Husband and Wife Team Behind the Leading Vaccine to Solve Covid-19," *New York Times*, Nov. 20, 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/10/business/biontech-covid-vaccine.html.
- 81. Adler, "Inside Operation Warp Speed."
- 82. The role of change agents in innovation is discussed in Bonvillian and Weiss, *Technological Innovation in Legacy Sectors,* 186–188, 213–214.
- 83. U.S. Census Bureau, Trade in Goods with Advanced Technology Products, 2020 and 2019.

- 84. Hart, "Building Back Cleaner with Industrial Decarbonization Demonstrations," 2021.
- 85. Sen. Chris Coons, "Sen. Coons, colleagues seek to create new domestic manufacturing investment corporation," News Release, Aug. 12, 2021, https://www.coons.senate.gov/news/press-releases/sen-coons-colleagues-seek-to-create-new-domestic-manufacturing-investment-corporation.